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enforce those orders under 33 U.S.C. § 1319(b), nor is Complainant seeking a civil penalty for
failure to comply with those orders under subsection 33 U.S.C. § 1319(d). Rather, Complainant
is seeking an administrative civil penalty pursuant to 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g).

As noted above, the statutory basis for this proceeding is found in 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g),
which provides EPA with the authority to assess administrative penalties. The exercise of this
authority does not impact EPA’s authority to issue administrative orders under 1319(a). On the
contrary, subsection 1319(g) explicitly provides that:

Action taken by the Administrator . . . under [subsection 1319(g)] shall not affect

or limit the Administrator's . . . authority to enforce any provision of this chapter;

except that any violation—

(i) with respect to which the Administrator or the Secretary has commenced

and is diligently prosecuting an action under this subsection [1319(g)],

(ii) with respect to which a State has commenced and is diligently prosecuting

an action under a State law comparable to this subsection [1319(g)], or

(iii) for which the Administrator, the Secretary, or the State has issued a final

order not subject to further judicial review and the violator has paid a penalty

assessed under this subsection, or such comparable State law, as the case may

be, shall not be the subject of a civil penalty action under subsection (d) of this

section or section 1321(b) of this title or section 1365 of this title.
33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(6)(a).?* In other words, this provision only bars the filing of a civil penalty
action for any violation for which administrative penalties are being sought, or have already been
paid under 1319(g), or equivalent state authorities. There is no such limitation on seeking
penalties for violations that have been the subject of an administrative order. It would be
“... plainly inconsistent with the strong enforcement policy of the Act to declare the EPA must
choose between prevention of future pollution discharges and punishment of past violations

through civil penalties. The administrator needs both sanctions.” United States v. Earth

Sciences., 599 F.2d 368, 375-76 (10th Cir. 1979).

2 Under CWA Section 1319(g), “the Secretary” refers to the Secretary of the Army, who has concurrent
authority with the EPA for enforcing permits issued under CWA Section 404. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(1)(B).
No such permit is at issue in this case and thus the Secretary has no role in this action.
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Thus, “several federal courts have rejected election of remedy defenses raised in federal
NPDES permit enforcement actions.” United States v. Citizens Utils. Co., No. 92 C 5132, 1993
U.S. Dist. LEXIS 10340, at *16 (N.D. I11. July 27, 1993). The same principle applies to
administrative penalty actions. See In re Dr. Marshall C. Sasser, 3 E.A.D. 703 n.9 (CJO 1991),
aff’d, sub nom, Sasser v. EPA, 990 F.2d 127, 36 ERC 1421 (4th Cir. 1993) (EPA may, but is not
required to, issue a compliance order prior to bringing a penalty action). Therefore, Respondent’s

election of remedy argument lacks merit.

VII. ARGUMENT ON PENALTY

A. The EPA Properly Considered the Statutory Factors Under CWA Section 309(g) in
Determining the Proposed Penalty and These Factors Support Awarding a
Substantial Penalty Equal to, or Greater Than, the Proposed Penalty

1. The Statutory Factors and Statutory Maximum

Complainant proposes that the Presiding Officer assess a penalty of $150,000, or greater,
against Respondent in this matter upon appropriate consideration of the factors contained within
33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(3) for the seventeen distinct types, and more than 16,218 separate days, of
CWA violations.?

33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(3), provides, in relevant part, that,

“[i]n determining the amount of any penalty assessed under this subsection, the

Administrator or the Secretary, as the case may be, shall take into account the

nature, circumstances, extent and gravity of the violation, or violations, and, with

respect to the violator, ability to pay, any prior history of such violations, the

degree of culpability, economic benefit or savings (if any) resulting from the
violation, and such other matters as justice may require.”

Section 309(g)(2)(B) of the CWA, 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(1)(A), provides, in relevant part,

that “the amount of a class II civil penalty under paragraph [309(g)](1) may not exceed $10,000

2 As the evidence in this case demonstrates, the actual number of days of violations is far larger than the
number that the EPA chose to seek penalties for.
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per day for each day during which the violation continues; except that the maximum amount of
any class II civil penalty under this subparagraph shall not exceed $125,000.” Those maximums
have been adjusted by subsequent inflation adjustment rules. As relevant to this Complaint, for
violations that occurred after January 12, 2009, and through December 6, 2013, the daily
maximum penalty is $16,000, and the maximum total penalty is $177,500. See 78 F.R. 66646.
For violations that occurred after December 6, 2013, and through November 2, 2015, and
violations occurring after November 2, 2015, where penalties are assessed before August 1,
2016, the daily maximum penalty is $16,000, and the maximum total penalty is $187,500. 40
C.F.R. 19.4. For violations that occurred after November 2, 2015, and assessed on or after
August 1, 2016 but before January 15, 2017, the daily maximum penalty is $20,628, and the
maximum total penalty is $257,848. 82 F.R. 3633. Finally, for violations that occurred after
November 2, 2015, and assessed on or after January 15, 2017, the daily maximum penalty is
$20,965, and the maximum total penalty is $262,066. Id.

As described in specific detail above, in determining the beginning date of these fifteen
types of violations, the EPA used three general approaches. First, for programmatic violations
where the Permit explicitly requires development, implementation and enforcement of a program
as they relate to Minimum Control Measures, EPA determined that the violation began more
than five years before the Complaint was served, on June 20, 2011, and lasted from at least July
1, 2011, the later date chosen by the EPA in its discretion. Second, for violations relating to a
permit condition that was required to be developed by a specific timeframe (e.g. a requirement to
conduct outfall reconnaissance of 100% of outfalls by May 2013), the date of that permit
requirement was utilized as the violation start date. Finally, some violations were considered to

have begun on the date that they were observed (i.e. during the respective audit). In those cases,
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the compliance dates used in the penalty analysis were the dates of Respondent’s submission of
responsive documents establishing that it had come into compliance. See Tr. 324-344.

2. The EPA Properly Considered the Clean Water Act Statutory Penalty
Factors

While the Agency has not issued a CWA-specific penalty policy to determine penalties
under the Act, it has issued a Clean Water Act Settlement Penalty Policy, to ensure that proposed
penalties are derived through the consistent and fair application of the statutory maximum
penalties and statutory factors. See CX 65; Tr. 377:5-10. The overall calculation of a penalty
under the Clean Water Act Settlement Penalty Policy tracks the statutory factors in 33 U.S.C. §
1319(g)(1)(A), and can be reduced to the following formula:

Penalty = Economic Benefit + Gravity +/- Gravity Adjustment Factors —

Litigation Considerations — Ability to Pay — Supplemental Environmental

Projects.

As described below, in accordance with the Clean Water Act Settlement Penalty Policy,
the EPA performed a penalty calculation following the above-listed formula, prior to filing the
administrative complaint in this case. And, at hearing, the EPA introduced evidence to support
this calculation, and its belief that a $150,000 penalty assessment is appropriate in this matter.
The following discussion is intended to give an overview of the testimony and other evidence
relating to penalty consideration that was introduced by the EPA at hearing, and to show how

that evidence supports the EPA’s request for this Tribunal to impose at least a $150,000 penalty

upon Respondent in this matter.2®

%In assessing a penalty, this Tribunal is required by the applicable rules of procedure to consider EPA’s
penalty guidance. Biewer Co. of Toledo, Inc., 15 E.A.D. 772, 780 (EAB, 2013) (quoting 40 C.F.R. §
22.27(b)). However, this Tribunal is not obligated to follow the penalty guidance or to impose the
Agency’s recommended penalty calculated thereunder. /d. Rather, the Tribunal is only ultimately
constrained by the statutory penalty factors and any statutory cap limiting the size of the assessible
penalty. Inre U. S. Army, 11 E.A.D. 126, 137, 170 (EAB 2003); M.A. Bruder & Sons, Inc., 10 E.A.D.
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a. Economic Benefit

As required in CWA § 309(g)(3), and to discourage violations and put the violator in the
same position they would have been had they complied in a timely manner, the EPA’s penalty
policies require penalties to include any economic benefit that the violator enjoyed as a result
of their violations. 33 U.S.C. § 1319(g)(3). This is known as Benefit of Economic
Noncompliance, or BEN. In this matter, BEN calculations were based on delayed and avoided
costs associated with the violations in the Complaint. When calculating BEN, the EPA utilizes
actual costs when available, and best professional judgment when actual costs are not available.

At the hearing, Ms. Arvizu testified that she had utilized information gathered from
Respondent’s progress reports and her best professional judgment to arrive at a calculated
economic benefit figure of $89,000. Tr. 345:11-24. The evidence at hearing indicates that this
$89,000 figure is reasonable given the significant economic benefit Respondent achieved by
failing to comply with its permit for over five years. Specifically, Respondent benefited from its
delayed expenditure relating to $517,601.03 that it ultimately spent to come into compliance
with its permit obligations. See CX 59 at 9; RX 71 at 11.

b. Gravity

The gravity component of the penalty calculation allows for the amount of the penalty to
better reflect the nature, circumstances, extent, and gravity of the damage caused by non-
compliance. This component is calculated for every month in which a violation occurred, and is
determined using the following formula: Monthly gravity component=(1 + A+ B+ C+D)x

1,000. A, B, C, and D are gravity factors that are assigned values according to the tables and text

598, 610 (EAB 2002). Therefore, the Tribunal can award a penalty amount greater than $150,000 in this
case upon its own consideration of the statutory penalty factors.
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of the EPA’s settlement penalty policy. A is the significance of the violation with a range from 0
to 20, B is the health and environmental harm with a range from 0 to 50, C is the number of
effluent limit Viola;tions with a range of 0 to 5, and D is the significance of non-effluent limit
violations with a range from 0 to 70. In this matter, based upon the findings of widespread
violations, and in fairness to the MS4s that have earnestly attempted to comply with the CWA,
the EPA determined that a significant gravity component was necessary to penalize Respondent
for its many violations, and to deter future violations by Respondent and other similarly situated
actors.

At the hearing, Ms. Arvizu indicated that she considered the gravity of the offenses for
each of the different types of violations, and used that information to calculate a total gravity
component of the penalty to be $77,000. Tr. 346-349. The extensive evidence of violations in
this matter establishes that this $77,000 figure is reasonable. Respondent is liable for numerous,
fundamental, and substantial permit violations lasting thousands of days. Moreover, the evidence
establishes that the DOT’s failures to implement the programs, procedures, and pollution
controls required by its permit likely led to substantial water pollution and significant
environmental harm.

Respondent’s MS4s discharge to countless water bodies throughout New York State,
including 98 that are impaired by water pollution. See CX 30 at 141-148, 214-15. As a result of its
widespread failure to effectively control its stormwater pollution, Respondent likely discharged
pollutants to, among other water bodies, Bunn Hill Creek, the Chenango River, Park Creek,
Cedar Pond Brook, the Mamaroneck River, Rush Creek, Patterson Creek, Owego Creek, Stratton
Mill Creek, the Hudson River, Casper Creek, Stump Pond Creek, and the New Croton Reservoir.

See CX 30 at 20-22, 36-38, 631-71; CX 35 at 18-20, 31-34, 640-46, 673-742; CX 39 at 30-34,
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621-77. These pollutants included, among others, petroleum products, paint, sediment, sand, salt,
concrete, gravel, metals, rust, tar, brine, and biological materials. See Id..; Tr. 158:18-22; 161:3-
13;163:11-17; 163:23-164:8; 170:6-19; 187:16-188:5; 190:11-23; 191:1-8; 196:23-197:2;
208:11-13; 215:10-216:3; 216:4-217:5; 259:1-21; 261:15-262:8; 264:1-24; 273:13-19; 274:19-
275:25; 280:21-281:10; 281:11-20. In one particularly egregious and harmful example, the audit
reports contain photographs capturing numerous significant failures by the DOT to protect the
Mamaroneck River — water body impaired by sediment — from sediment runoff. See CX 35 at
19-20, 659-71; see also Tr. 196:10-205:24. And given the fact that the EPA’s audits only focused
on a subset of sites in only three of Respondent’s eleven regions throughout the State, these
observations likely represent only a small fraction of the water bodies impacted by Respondent’s
failure to comply with its permit obligations.

Many of the violations in this case are symptomatic of Respondent’s long-term, systemic
failure to adhere to its permit requirements, which resulted in delayed implementation of
practices designed to minimize the discharge of pollutants into storm water. Respondent failed to
adequately develop and implement programs relating to each of the minimum control measures
at issue in this case including those relating to illicit discharge and detection elimination,
construction and post-construction stormwater controls, and pollution prevention or good
housekeeping programs. For example, extensive pavement staining observed at multiple
sites/residencies indicates that Respondent did not follow or have appropriate or adequate pollution
prevention and good housekeeping practices in place to address spills and leaks at its facilities for
significant periods of time. Tr. 158: 18-22; 208:11-13; 215:10-216. Similarly, silt fencing — one
of the primary best management practices Respondent selected to prohibit sediment from

entering water bodies at Respondent’s construction sites — was observed to be either missing, or
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in various states of disarray and failure throughout numerous of the construction sites visited
during EPA’s audits. See e.g. Tr. 140:20-143:7; 146:7-15; 147:2-14; 149:18-24; 150:9-16;
153:24-155:4; 184:3-21; 185:2-6; 185:23-186:14; 189:20-190:14; 191:1-22; 196:14-197:2;
197:23-198:7; 198:20-25; and 208:9-22.

Finally, in order to justify a penalty in this case, Complainant need not prove that the
DOT’s failure to comply with its permit conditions for numerous years actually led to
environmental harm, but only that it had the potential to do so. Courts agree that a substantial
civil penalty may be imposed without finding that the violation caused actual environmental
harm; the potential harm posed by the violation is sufficient. United States v. Mun. Auth. Union
of Township, 929 F. Supp. 800, 867 (M.D. Pa. 1996) (“It must be emphasized, however, that
because actual harm to the environment is by nature difficult and sometimes impossible to
demonstrate, it need not be proven to establish that substantial penalties are appropriate in a
Clean Water Act case.”); see also Labarge, Inc., EPA Docket No. CWA-VII-91-W-0078, 1997
EPA ALJ LEXIS 6, *9 (Decision and Order as to Penalty)(ALJ, Mar. 26, 1997); United States v.
Gulf Park Water Co., 14 F. Supp. 2d 854, 860 (S.D. Miss. 1998). Therefore, the EPA properly

considered the gravity of Respondent’s violations in calculating its proposed penalty.

c. Adjustment Factors

The gravity calculation can also be adjusted, based on three additional factors: the
violator’s ability to pay (can decrease gravity), the violator’s prior history of recalcitrance (can
increase gravity), and the quick settlement reduction factor (can reduce gravity). A Respondent’s
demonstrated inability to pay may justify reducing the gravity factor.

1. Ability to Pay

“[A] respondent’s ability to pay may be presumed until it is put at issue by a respondent.”

JHNY, Inc., 12 E.A.D. 372, 397 (EAB 2005) (quoting Spitzer Great Lakes, Ltd., 9 E.A.D. 302,
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321 (EAB 2000)). In this case, Respondent has not raised any issue regarding DOT’s ability to
pay the proposed penalty in this case. To the contrary, the parties have jointly stipulated to the
fact that Respondent is a large entity with a vast network of facilities and employees located
throughout New York State. See Joint Stipulations at 1. Respondent’s witness Dan Hitt also
testified at hearing that DOT had more than 8,000 employees. Tr. 554:23-25; see also RX72
(detailing the payment of $452,766.68 in labor costs for DOT compliance efforts.) As such, it is
reasonable to conclude that Respondent can pay the proposed penalty. Moreover, Respondent
has not asserted that it cannot pay the proposed penalty, nor has it provided financial
documentation in the record to support such a claim. Consequently, the EPA properly considered
Respondent’s ability to pay in this case, and this factor does not require any reduction in the
proposed penalty.
ii. History of Recalcitrance

The history of recalcitrance factor can increase the amount of the gravity based on bad
faith or unjustified delay by a Respondent. In this matter, no increase was calculated under this
factor because Respondent was cooperative and responsive in remedying violations once they
had been identified by the EPA.

iii. Quick Settlement Adjustment

The quick settlement adjustment factor encourages violators to be reasonable and
responsive during negotiations, and can support a reduction in the proposed penalty where
Respondent is willing to resolve a complaint through a reasonable settlement. In this matter, an

adjustment for quick settlement is not warranted because no settlement was achieved.

d. Supplemental Environmental Projects (SEP)

The amount of a penalty may be reduced to some extent, but not to zero, if the violator is
willing to perform a supplemental environmental project, which is an environmentally beneficial
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project proposed by the violator, that the violator is not legally required to do, but which has a
specific nexus to the harms caused by the violation at hand and is otherwise acceptable to the
EPA. In this case, the EPA did not consider a SEP in its penalty calculation because a SEP was

not performed.

e. Litigation Considerations

Where the EPA believes there is a weakness in its case that might result in obtaining a
lower penalty at hearing or trial, it may reduce the proposed penalty by up to 30%. In this case,
given the strong record of Respondent’s extensive and long-running violations of the Clean
Water Act, such considerations do not justify a reduction in the proposed penalty.

3. A Penalty Reduction is Not Warranted Based on “Such Other Matters as
Justice May Require”

In addition to the enumerated factors discussed above, 33 U.S.C. §1319(g)(3) of the
Clean Water Act requires the Administrator to consider whether any other factors including
“such other matters as justice may require,” warrant an increase or decrease in the proposed
penalty. The phrase, while not defined by the CWA, has been interpreted in a number of
administrative law decisions. These decisions make clear that this “justice” factor is rarely
invoked, and should only come into play when consideration of the other listed criteria is
insufficient to achieve a fair result. Respondents must meet a high bar to show that a penalty is
unfair — the circumstances must be “such that a reasonable person would easily agree that not
giving some form of credit would be manifest injustice.” In re Spang & Co., 6 E.A.D. 226, 250
(EAB 1995). Courts have noted the “extraordinary nature” of the criterion, and stated that it is
only to be “sparingly wielded.” In Re Service Oil, Inc., 14 E.A.D. 133, 156 (EAB 2008) (vacated

on other grounds by Service Oil v. United States EPA, 590 F.3d 545 (8th Cir., 2009) . The
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criterion “only com[es] into play where application of the other adjustment factors has not
resulted in a ‘fair and just’ penalty.” /d.

Here, the proposed penalty of $150,000 is a fair and just penalty given Respondent’s
multi-year, widespread failure to comply with clear, significant permit requirements that are
designed to protect the waters of the United States. Nevertheless, Respondent appears to argue
that the penalty should be off-set by the money that it spent belatedly coming into compliance,
including money allegedly spent on environmental expenses not strictly required by the
Administrative Compliance Order. Tr. 384; see also Respondent’s Response to Motion for
Partial Accelerated Decision on Liability at 2-3, December 11, 2017. Any sums of money that
Respondent may have spent on compliance, however, should not reduce the penalty in this case.
As the case law makes clear, “[t]he cost of compliance with the law does not seem a proper set-
off to apply to penalties for noncompliance.” EPA v. Environmental Waste Control, 710 F.Supp.
1172, 1244 (N.D. Ind. 1989); see also U.S. v. Vineland Chemical Co., 1990 U.S. Dist. LEXIS
8881, 31 ERC 1720 at 30 (D.N.J. 1990).

Moreover, the hearing testimony does not adequately support Respondent’s contention
that it spent in excess of what was strictly required to comply with its environmental obligations
under its permit. Respondent did not actually admit into evidence any documentary proof
regarding these purported additional expenditures, nor did Respondent proffer any evidence of
the amounts allegedly spent in this regard. See generally Tr. 456-550.2" Rather, Respondent’s
entire evidence in this regard is based on their party representative’s testimony regarding her
opinion as to what was required for Respondent to comply with its permit requirements.

Significantly, Ms. Kubek admitted that her experience in stormwater management issues does

27 Respondent’s witness, Ms. Kubek, was shown Complainant’s Exhibit 68 at hearing, to which she
referred briefly, however, this document was never admitted into evidence.
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not qualify her to interpret legal language and, as described earlier, her testimony repeatedly
demonstrated her lack of competence in that regard. Tr. 507:4-6; 456:6-16; 459:14-24; 466:11-
467:8; 467:9-20; 468:1-9; 469:19-470:5. Thus, Respondent’s unsupported claim that it spent
more than necessary to comply does not justify an off-set for, nor a reduction of, penalties in this
matter.

Similarly, the justice does not require this Tribunal to credit Respondent’s legally
misguided estoppel argument. As described above, this argument fails on the facts and the law,
and the equities of this case clearly do not support a penalty reduction based on this theory.

Since Respondent has not offered support for any arguments that th¢ proposed penalty
calculation will clearly result in “manifest injustice,” this court should not entertain any request
for a penalty reduction in the interests of justice. Rather, as described above, Complainant’s
proposed penalty is well supported by the record, and Complainant therefore respectfully
proposes that this court, upon consideration of the evidence and the statutory penalty factors,

assess a penalty of no less than $150,000.
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ViIl. PROPOSED FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW, AND
ADMINISTRATIVE PENALTY

Based on the foregoing pleadings, admissions, documents, and testimony, Complainant
proposes that this Tribunal (1) find Respondent liable for at least 16,218 days of violation of the
Clean Water Act, as alleged in paragraph III.10 of the Complaint, (2) order Respondent to pay a
penalty of no less than $150,000, and (3) grant Complainant such other and further relief as this

Tribunal deems lawful and proper.

Respectfully submitted,

\/ B,
Christopher Saporita
Jason Garelick
Assistant Regional Counsels
Office of Regional Counsel
US Environmental Protection Agency, Region 2
290 Broadway, 16th floor
New York, New York 10007-1866
212-637-3203

Dated: August 17,2018
New York, NY
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